IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 00-1577 SAMUEL SHAW, Petitioner, vs. ELIZABETH SHAW, Respondent. PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Sharon C. Degnan Diane H. Tutt DIANE H. TUTT, P.A. 8211 W. Broward Boulevard, Suite 420 Plantation, Florida 33324 (954) 475-9933 Fla. Bar No. 329371

Appellate Counsel for Petitioner **

INTRODUCTION

This brief is filed on behalf of the Petitioner, the Appellant below, SAMUEL SHAW, seeking reversal of the panel opinion of the Fourth District filed May 31, 2000.

Throughout this brief, Petitioner will be referred to as "The Father." The Respondent, the Appellee below, ELIZABETH SHAW, will be referred to as "The Mother."

References to documents included in the appellate record will be designated "R." followed by the appropriate reference in the record. References to the Transcript of Proceedings from the trial held on September 29 and 30, 1999, which is included at the end of the appellate record, will be designated "T." followed by the appropriate page in the transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case began in April of 1997 when the Mother filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage seeking, among other things, to relocate from Broward County, Florida to Louisiana with the parties' then two and a half year old daughter, Jenna, and to be her primary residential parent. (R. 1-8). The Mother's petition **did not** seek sole parental responsibility nor did it make any mention whatsoever of any psychological unstableness on the part of the Father or request that the Father be required to attend any type of parenting course in order to have contact with his daughter. (R. 1-8).

The Father filed an answer to the Mother's petition as well as a Counter-Petition for Support, Custody, and Child Support Unconnected with Dissolution of Marriage wherein he sought to be named Jenna's primary residential parent. (R. 80-82; 83-87). At the time that the Father filed his pleading in May of 1997, Jenna and the Mother had already moved to Louisiana pursuant to an *ex parte* order that had been entered by the trial court authorizing the Mother to immediately relocate with the child in order to begin her new job. (R. 52-53).

¹ After entry of this *ex parte* order, the Father appealed to the Fourth District which concluded that the trial court had erred in entering the *ex parte* order in light of the absence of a "true emergency" or "extraordinary facts." Specifically, the Fourth District noted that there was no allegation that the Father had threatened to harm Jenna. *See Shaw v. Shaw*, 696 So. 2d 391 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Nonetheless, Jenna

Upon remand of the *ex parte* order by the Fourth District, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the Mother's motion to temporarily relocate. After hearing from the parties on this issue, the trial court authorized the temporary relocation to Louisiana and ruled that the Father could exercise visitation with Jenna four times per year in Louisiana and four times per year in Florida. (R. 170-173).

Thereafter, in October of 1997, the parties agreed to the entry of a child support order including both on-going and back support for Jenna. (R. 207-208). This obligation was met through the voluntary entry of an Income Deduction Order. (R. 209-214). Furthermore, in February of 1998, the parties came to an agreement in regard to equitable distribution. (T. 14-15). Throughout this dispute, there has really never been an issue regarding either equitable distribution or child support.

Where there has been considerable dispute between the parties is the issue of the Father's visitation with Jenna. In January of 1998, when he had not seen his then three year old daughter for nine months, the Father filed a Motion for Contempt and to Enforce Visitation on grounds that the Mother refused to comply with the trial court's temporary visitation order. (R. 216-217). During a hearing on this motion, the Father testified that he had repeatedly sought to exercise visitation with Jenna and had requested that the Mother allow her to fly to Florida, but that each time the Mother

and the Mother remained at all times in Louisiana.

refused the visitation. (R. 237-238). Furthermore, the Father testified that he and the Mother had pre-arranged a visitation between Jenna and the Father in Florida during the period between July 19 and July 26, 1997, but that just prior to the time that the visitation was to occur, the Mother sent a letter to the Father stating that she was postponing the visitation based on a comment that the Father made and that until the Father agreed to abide by the orders of the court, visitation would be supervised and conducted in Louisiana. (R. 243-244).

The Father testified that he did not want to exercise visitation in Louisiana because he feared for his life. (R. 242, 246). He explained that he was concerned that if he went to Louisiana to exercise visitation, the Mother would accuse him of attempting to kidnap Jenna and he would end up in jail in Louisiana. (R. 242). After hearing the Father's testimony, the lower court ruled that the Father had the right not to go to Louisiana and that the Mother did not have the authority to impose any greater conditions on the Father's visitation than those imposed by the court in its prior order. (R. 249, 258). The court ordered that Jenna should visit the Father in

² The Mother alleged in this letter that the Father told her that he did not recognize the lower court's orders and that he refused to abide by them. The Father denied making these statements and testified that what he had said was that he did not believe he was receiving a fair hearing from the court and that he felt his rights had been violated, but that he was bound by the court's order and would live by it whether he agreed with it or not. (R. 239, 244).

Florida. (R. 258).

While the Father testified that the Mother consistently refused him visitation with Jenna, the Mother claimed that she encouraged the Father to see her, but that he refused. (T. 301; 145-148). Nonetheless, at the time of trial in September of 1999, it is undisputed that the Father had visitation with Jenna on four separate occasions: for one night in April of 1998 when the Mother was visiting a friend in Fort Lauderdale³ (T. 143; 296-301); for one week in September of 1998 (R. 298; T. 144); for one week in October of 1998⁴ (R. 223); and for twelve days in June of 1999. (R. 223).

Additionally, from the time that the Mother initially moved to Louisiana, the Father testified at trial that he maintains constant phone contact with Jenna and that at the time of trial, he was calling on a weekly schedule on Wednesday and Sunday nights. (T. 315). The Father regularly sends the child birthday and holiday cards with gifts. (T. 160).

Notwithstanding her constant insinuations that the Father was derelict in his

³ The first time that the Father finally saw Jenna since the Mother left for Louisiana was a year later in April of 1998. (T. 296).

⁴ During this visit, the child spent her fourth birthday and Halloween with the Father. (T. 223-224).

⁵ The Mother, on the other hand, testified that the Father's phone contact has been sporadic and that the Father has gone for up to a month without calling the child. (T. 159-160). The Father denied this, claiming there has never been a month that he didn't consistently call the child. (T. 318).

care giving role,⁶ the Mother unequivocally testified during trial that, in her opinion, Jenna could spend up to two weeks straight with the Father during visitation. (T. 190-191). Moreover, the Mother admitted that the Father had a good and loving relationship with his daughter and that the daughter loves the Father. (T. 190).

Prior to trial, the Father filed a motion for Psychological Evaluation wherein he requested that the trial court compel the parties and the child to undergo psychological evaluations and that an independent custody evaluation be performed since this was the primary issue in the case. (R. 311-312). The trial court denied this motion. (R. 319).

Nonetheless, during trial, the psychological stability of the parents became a central issue. The Mother alleged that the Father was psychologically unstable because he had lied to her about his past. (T. 208). Specifically, the Mother alleged that during their marriage, the Father had told her that he was in the Army and that he would take one Saturday off a month to go to Homestead Air Force Base. (T. 126-127). Additionally, the Mother testified that the Father told her that during Desert Storm, he had to go to Korea. (T. 128). Thereafter, the Mother came to learn that, in fact, the Father had never been in the Army. (T.130).

The Father denied both that he was ever in the Army and that he had ever told

⁶ While the Mother alleged that after each of the visits with the Father, the child returned filthy and with head lice, the Father denied that this was true. (T. 144; 301; 323-324).

time that he had been in the Army. (T. 268). The Father alleged that the only time that the subject of the Army had ever come up during their marriage was when they were buying their house and the Mother had asked if they could get a VA loan and the Father told her they were not eligible. (T. 269). The Father claimed that it was not until after the divorce proceedings began that this issue with him supposedly impersonating someone in the Army came up. (T. 269).

Moreover, the Mother's psychological condition was put into question by virtue of evidence that she had been hospitalized for depression and substance abuse prior to their marriage and that throughout their marriage, she continued to have bouts of depression. (T. 269-270). The Father testified that the Mother's depression resulted from abuse by her father and that throughout their marriage whenever she would speak to her father, she would become upset. (T. 270-271). The Father explained that after Jenna's birth, he felt that she was going through postpartum depression and that he had requested that she seek counseling, but the Mother had refused saying that it would bring up things that she did not want to talk about. (T. 271-272). The Mother admitted that she had been in a drug rehabilitation program for cocaine abuse, but denied that she had ever been depressed or that she had suffered from postpartum depression. (T. 202-204). The Mother admitted that she had "probably" told the Father that her father had been abusive to her. (T. 205).

During his testimony, the Father raised an issue in regard to the care that Jenna was receiving in Louisiana. The Father testified that when she came to visit him in Florida in September of 1998, she arrived with a "four centimeter slash" on her arm. (T. 321). When he asked the Mother what had happened, the Mother simply said that she had fallen and would not provide any other information. (T.321).

Thereafter, the Father testified that when Jenna came to see him in June of 1999, the Mother told him that she had developed a problem where she "talks to dead people" and that she thinks she has a dead brother named "Emily." (T. 322). Additionally, during the same visit, the Mother showed the Father a mass of mosquito bites on Jenna's arm and told him that she had already gone to the doctor and that she had been told to put Neosporin on it. (T. 322). The Father took the child to a doctor in Florida who diagnosed her as having a staph infection and put her on antibiotics to prevent it from going into her bloodstream. (T. 322-323).

Moreover, during the trial, there was an issue raised in regard to Jenna having told the Father, in June of 1999 while they were on a flight back to Louisiana, that she had been hit by the Mother, the maternal grandfather, and a maternal uncle. (T. 326-336). Specifically, the Father testified that the child told him that the uncle "hit her with wood." (T. 329-330). The Father explained that he had reported the incident to his attorney and to the child's physician in Florida. (T. 333-336).

After the court interrogated the Father about the incident, he ruled that he was not going consider the testimony because it was uncorroborated. (T. 336; 342). In response to a suggestion by the court that he had improperly sought to bring the issue before it, the Father's trial counsel explained that the Father had not raised the issue to suggest that the Mother was abusing the child, but rather to make sure that no one other than the parents be permitted to discipline the child by inflicting corporal punishment upon her. (T. 339).

After both parties presented their case, the lower court made a detailed oral ruling. (T. 399-438). The lower court ruled that the Mother would be Jenna's primary residential parent and approved the relocation to Louisiana. (T. 406-419).

In regard to parental responsibility, the lower court ruled that the Mother would have "temporary sole parental responsibility" for Jenna and ordered the Father to take a 36-week parenting course offered by the Broward County Mental Health Association. (T. 419, 422). The court stated that it would have another hearing after the Father attended the course and that the Father would have to go the "extra mile" to convince the court that he had earned the designation of shared parental responsibility. (T. 422). Morever, the court ruled that the Mother could provide the court with feedback because he was "totally convinced she would not use it as an extortion or as leverage against dad." (T. 422). Until that time, the court told the

Father that he was being relegated to the status of a renter rather than an owner of his child. (T. 423).

In regard to visitation, the trial court ordered that the Mother would "be the court" on this issue and would determine when and where there should be visitation, if at all, and whether it be supervised or unsupervised. (T. 420-421).

Lastly, the court ruled that the Father would be responsible for "every last penny" of the Mother's attorney's fees pursuant to the *Rosen*⁷ case based on a finding that "this litigation should have never gone this far, not at all." (T. 426).

Thereafter, a detailed written order was entered which, for the most part, conformed with the court's oral rulings. (R. 380-392). It is from this order that the Father appealed to the Fourth District.

On appeal, the Father challenged several different aspects of the court's ruling. The Father argued that the lower court had abused its discretion in allowing the Mother to have unilateral control and authority to determine if and under what circumstances he could see Jenna. Moreover, the Father challenged the trial court's award of "temporary sole parental responsibility" to the Mother arguing that there was no evidentiary support for the lower court's finding that shared parental responsibility would be detrimental to the child and that the lower court's requirement that the

⁷ Rosen v. Rosen, 696 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1997).

Father complete a nine month parenting class as a pre-requisite to reconsideration of this ruling was an abuse of discretion. Thirdly, the Father argued that in light of the conflicting testimony presented and the allegations of mistreatment of the child and mental instability on the part of the parents, the lower court had abused its discretion in refusing to appoint a neutral third party, such as a psychologist or guardian ad litem, to evaluate the situation prior to ruling on custody and visitation. Lastly, the Father challenged the lower court's decision to make him responsible for the entirety of the Mother's attorney's fees pursuant to *Rosen* since the record does not support a finding that the Father was overly litigious, or in any way vexatious, during the course of the litigation.

While acknowledging that there was case law both out of the Fourth District and the other district courts of appeal which expressly disapproved of the actions taken by the trial court in this case, the Fourth District nonetheless affirmed the trial court's order in all respects. In support of its ruling, the Fourth District simply stated that even though it may generally be error, based on the facts presented in this case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the Mother to have unilateral control over the Father's visitation. Furthermore, the Fourth District affirmed the trial court's decision to award temporary sole parental responsibility to the Mother until the Father completed the nine month parenting class, at which point the trial court

would conduct a status conference to hear from the parties. In regard to this issue, the Fourth District expressed disagreement with the First District, which had held in *Williams v. Williams*, 690 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) that it constitutes reversible error to order a parent to attend a parenting class where such relief exceeds the scope of relief sought by the pleadings, absent notice which affords the opposing party an opportunity to be heard with respect to the proposed relief. The Father has sought review in this Court of the Fourth District's opinion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While the Fourth District concluded that the trial court's ruling in this case was justified by the discretionary credibility determinations made during trial, the Father respectfully submits that this determination was wrong and that even in light of the broad discretion afforded to trial judges to make credibility assessments, the ruling of the lower court cannot be sustained on this ground. As recognized in the opinion of the Fourth District, the panel's affirmance of the trial court order creates both interdistrict and intra-district conflict on several different issues and thus simply cannot be rationalized as a narrow, fact based, opinion.

The Father urges the Court in reviewing this case to recognize not only that the trial court's ruling has broad, statewide implications regarding several different aspects of child custody litigation and the right and ability of a parent to seek certain relief in courts of this State, but also that it directly implicates constitutional concerns about the due process rights of a parent and a child to pursue a meaningful relationship.

ARGUMENT

Point I

IT IS A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS TO IMPOSE A PARENTING CLASS ON A PARENT IN THE ABSENCE OF EITHER A REQUEST FOR SUCH RELIEF OR SOME OTHER NOTICE THAT SUCH A PROVISION IS BEING CONTEMPLATED SO AS TO ALLOW THE PARENT AN OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD ON THE ISSUE.

In this case, the Fourth District expressly approved of the lower court's decision to require the Father to attend a nine month parenting class sponsored by the Broward County Mental Health Association as a precondition of its reconsideration of custody and visitation despite the fact that neither of the parties had ever requested such relief in their pleadings nor did the trial court ever provide the parties with any notice whatsoever that it was contemplating this relief. In the panel opinion, the Fourth District stated outright that it did not agree with the decision of the First District in *Williams v. Williams*, 690 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) wherein the court reversed a portion of an order requiring a parent to attend a parenting class where this requirement exceeded the scope of relief sought in the pleadings and was made without allowing the party against whom the relief was ordered to oppose the contemplated relief in any meaningful way.

While the Mother has argued throughout these proceedings that this case can

be distinguished from *Williams*, *supra*, and *Silvers v. Silvers*, 504 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) because neither of these cases were decided in the context of a full trial on custody and visitation disputes and neither discussed any statutory basis for a parenting class, these distinctions are without merit.

Both *Williams* and *Silvers* correctly recognize that it is a violation of due process for a trial judge to require a parent to attend a parenting class when the party has never been placed on notice that such relief is being contemplated by the court and thus is denied the opportunity to be heard on the issue before a ruling is made. *See also Little v. Little*, 718 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); *Brady v. Jones*, 491 So. 2d 1272 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

Recently, in *Windancer v. Stein*, 765 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), the First District reiterated this notion that it is a violation of the fundamental right to due process for a court to adjudicate issues that are not presented by the pleadings, not noticed by the parties, and are not litigated during a hearing. This concept is exceedingly relevant to this case since the trial court below not only required the Father to attend a 36-week parenting class which had never been suggested by either the parties or the court prior to its ruling, but in fact, pre-conditioned any and all access that the Father had to his child on the completion of this nine month course.

Moreover, the violation of due process is especially significant since the trial court not only failed to ever indicate that it was contemplating a denial of custody and visitation⁸ based on the Father's alleged mental health deficiencies and/or lack of parenting skills, none of which had ever been pled or raised by the Mother in her pleadings, but to the contrary, by virtue of its repeated denial of the Father's request that the parties undergo psychological evaluations and that a guardian ad litem be appointed, led him to believe the exact opposite. In so doing, the trial court essentially made it impossible for the Father to address the court's concerns in any real fashion or to oppose the trial court's contemplated relief in any meaningful way. For this reason, the trial court's ruling, which denied the Father shared parental responsibility and visitation with Jenna until at least such time as he completed a nine month parenting course, was a violation of due process as recognized in *Williams* and While it is true that pursuant to F.S. § 61.21, the Florida Legislature has Silvers. authorized, and in fact mandated, that all judicial circuits in the State approve of a four hour parenting class known as the Parent Education and Family Stabilization Course to be attended by all divorcing parents at the early stages of divorce litigation, it is

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