IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1577

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

NOV 2 8 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_

SAMUEL SHAW,

Petitioner,

v.

ELIZABETH SHAW,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT ELIZABETH SHAW

Abbe Cohn, Esq. ABBE COHN, P.A. Riverwalk Plaza Suite 2000 333 North New River Drive East Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

Nancy W. Gregoire, Esq. BUNNELL, WOULFE, KIRSCHBAUM, KELLER & McINTYRE, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 888 East Las Olas Boulevard 4th Floor Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 761-8600

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

The district court was also correct in holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering temporary sole parental responsibility. The record supports the trial court's findings that the Father's behavior was bizarre, that he did not cooperate with the Mother's efforts to forge a bond between him and his child, and that under the circumstances shared parental responsibility until the Father completed a parenting course would be detrimental to Jenna.

Finally, the district court properly affirmed the award of attorneys fees to the Mother. The Father has 57% of the parties' combined net income, and that fact alone is sufficient to warrant an award of fees to the Mother. In addition, however, there was evidence that the Father overlitigated the case, threatened the Mother, repeatedly blockaded her attempts to move to Louisiana with Jenna, told her he would not comply with court orders, attempted to delay trial by seeking appointment of a psychologist and guardian ad litem at the last minute, and lied to get his way. As the district court tacitly concluded, the *Rosen* guidelines entirely support the award.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION OR VIOLATE THE FATHER'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS IN ORDERING HIM TO ATTEND A PARENTING CLASS **STATUTES** WHERE **FLORIDA** AUTHORIZE PARENTING CLASSES, CUSTODY, VISITATION, AND PARENTAL RESPONSIBILITY WERE AT ISSUE, AND FOUND THE TRIAL COURT FATHER'S THE PARTICIPATION IN THE PARENTING CLASS SERVED THE MINOR CHILD'S BEST INTERESTS.

The Mother disagrees that there was any abuse of discretion or due process violation in the trial court's order that the Father attend parenting classes as a condition of visitation and shared parental responsibility (IB14). A trial court abuses its discretion only if no reasonable person could take the view adopted by the court. *See Canakaris v. Canakaris*, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). In this case, the record before the trial court showed:

- the Father's refusal to stop smoking around Jenna or recognize any relationship between his smoking and her bronchitis until ordered by the court to stop smoking in her presence (T104, 134, 364);
- his failure to ever contact Jenna's daycare center or pediatrician in Louisiana, despite the Mother's suggestions that he keep up with Jenna's progress through those sources (T351);
- his failure to ever send Jenna photographs or audiotapes despite the Mother's invitations and his ability to do so (T316, 357-58);
- his lies about military service, college degrees, and marital status, as well as his refusal to admit to his own comments about visiting in Louisiana only accompanied by United States marshals (T128-31, 351-55, 362-63);
- his periodic lack of good hygiene for himself, his home, and Jenna (T131, 142, 206);
- his temper tantrums (T132, 135);
- his periodic unemployment (T133);
- his threats against the Mother as well as his threats to violate court orders (T147, 160-61, 366-67); and

• his refusal to even respond to the Mother's numerous letters asking him to schedule visitations with Jenna (T150-156, 158; WE5).

Faced with that record, the trial court expressed its "great concerns" about allowing shared parental responsibility given the Father's bizarre behavior, failure to take advantage of visitation offers, misguided efforts to poison the waters regarding the Mother's parenting, threats against the Mother, and generally "clouded" judgment (T408, 416, 417, 419, 422). The court rejected the Father's testimony as "less than credible," noted its disappointment in the Father and his testimony, accepted the Mother's testimony unconditionally (T405-11), and based on those findings of fact concluded that it would be detrimental to Jenna to award the Father shared parental responsibility or scheduled visitation until he completed a parenting course (R3-386). Given the plethora of facts supporting the trial court's decision, reasonable persons could certainly differ over the propriety of the challenged ruling.

There was also no violation of the Father's procedural due process rights to warrant reversal. This Court has held that the purpose of procedural due process is to "serve[] as a vehicle to ensure fair treatment through the proper administration of justice where substantive rights are at issue." *Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property*, 588 So. 2d 957, 960 (Fla. 1991). But the "extent of procedural due process protections varies with the character of the interest and nature of the proceeding involved." *In Interest of D.B.*, 385 So. 2d 83, 89 (Fla. 1980). Where a parent has no need to prepare for a particular proceeding or issue, and all that is required is an appearance, the requirements of procedural due process are met if the parent simply appears. *See Gilbert v. Homar*, 520 U.S. 924 (1997); *Cafeteria & Restaurant Workers Union, Local 473 v. McElroy*, 367 U.S. 886 (1961)); *see also Goldberg v. Kelly*, 397 U.S. 254, 262-263 (1970) ("The extent to which procedural

due process must be afforded the recipient is influenced by the extent to which he may be 'condemned to suffer grievous loss.'").

Here the Father claims violation of his procedural due process rights only as to the parenting course, not visitation, custody, or sole parental responsibility (R1-2-3). He has never objected to the trial court's authority to rule on those issues (R2-364-69; T232-42). The sole question, therefore, is whether he was entitled to separate notice of the trial court's intention to require a parenting course as a condition for shared parental responsibility and visitation. The answer is no. To require a petition to list each type of relief available to the trial court is unreasonable. It should be sufficient, as the fourth district tacitly held here, to frame generally the issues before the trial court and then recognize the court's broad discretion under chapter 61, Florida Statutes, to craft specific relief based on the facts of the case. Based on the record in this case, the trial court would have been well within its discretion in awarding the Mother permanent sole parental responsibility of Jenna without giving the Father any chance to rehabilitate himself. See Osherow v. Osherow, 2000 WL 294513, *3 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (explaining that § 61.13(2)(b)2 authorizes a court to order sole parental responsibility and place restrictions on visitation if it determines that shared parental responsibility would be detrimental); Roski v. Roski, 730 So. 2d 413, 414 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (finding no abuse of discretion in awarding sole parental responsibility); Adams v. Adams, 677 So. 2d 6, 9 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (same).

However, rather than permanently eliminate the Father's right to shared parental responsibility, the court gave the Mother only <u>temporary</u> sole parental responsibility while allowing the Father the opportunity to take a parenting course and then seek shared parental responsibility. Similarly, after determining that shared parental responsibility would be detrimental to Jenna, the court could have restricted

the Father's visitation without allowing him any opportunity to readdress the issue. *See Osherow*, 2000 WL at *3. Instead, the court gave the Mother only <u>temporary</u> management of visitation and gave the Father, through the parenting course, an opportunity to improve his skills and attitude.

One can hardly conclude that the court's willingness to give the Father a second chance, even though it was not required to do so, is a violation of his due process rights. To the contrary, as the above cases recognize, there was no due process violation not only because he had notice of the trial court's authority to order the course as a condition of his parental rights, but also because he stood only to gain, and not to lose, as a result of the court's willingness to revisit its parental responsibility and visitation orders. As the above cases also recognize, there was no due process violation, because the Father was not deprived of any opportunity to prepare to address the parenting class ruling, because there was no preparation he could have done in addition to general trial preparation. Under the specific facts of this case, the fourth district correctly held that the Father received all the process he was due on the parenting course issue.

The fourth district also correctly pointed to Florida statutes as providing additional notice of the trial court's authority to order a parenting course. Where issues regarding child custody and visitation are before a trial court, Florida law requires that the court take whatever action is necessary for the best interests of the child. *See Bracken v. Bracken*, 704 So. 2d 746, 748 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (recognizing the trial court's discretion to consider the total circumstances and best interests of the child in deciding issues of custody and visitation); *Pulitzer v. Pulitzer*, 449 So. 2d 370, 371 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); § 61.052(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995) (directing that a trial court may take any action it deems appropriate for the best interests of a minor child). Within the arsenal given trial courts to protect children is the power to

require parenting courses of divorcing and custodial parents. See §§ 61.13(4)(c), 61.21(3), (5), Fla. Stat. (1995). Knowledge of those statutes is imputed to the Father as a matter of law. See Myers v. State, 696 So. 2d 893, 899 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), quashed on other grounds, 713 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1998). Given that imputed notice, and particularly considering the specific circumstances of this case, the trial court was surely within its broad discretion to protect Jenna's best interests by ordering the Father to take a parenting course without some <u>additional</u> notice.

The Father's argument that neither statute provided him proper notice because section 61.13 authorizes only a class for a custodial parent and section 61.21 authorizes only a shorter class (IB16-17) is without merit. He has never attacked the length or scope of the parenting course, only the trial court's authority to order any course at all because it was not requested in the Mother's Petition. But there is no question that both custody and visitation were at issue in this case and, as the fourth district explained, section 61.13, combined with a trial court's inherent discretion, is broad enough to authorize a parenting course under those circumstances.

Furthermore, the Mother does not believe there is any direct conflict between the cases on which the Father relied to seek this Court's jurisdiction and this case (IB14-15), nor did the fourth district recognize such a conflict. Neither *Williams*, 690 So. 2d at 603, nor *Silvers v. Silvers*, 504 So. 2d 30, 31 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), the other case on which the Father relies, involved either pleadings or final hearings encompassing issues of custody, parental responsibility, or visitation, as does this case. Therefore, in noting its disagreement with *Williams* "to the extent it requires a pleading" before a trial court can order attendance at a parenting course, the fourth district in *Shaw*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D1321, was merely explaining that to construe *Williams* as requiring <u>pleading</u> notice would be incorrect because due process requirements could be satisfied by notice given in some form other than a pleading. A review of the facts of *Williams*, 690 So. 2d at 602, shows why it does not conflict with Shaw. The sole issue before the court was the former wife's motion for enforcement of the financial terms of the parties' property settlement agreement. Nevertheless, the trial court ordered the former husband to attend parenting classes and to obtain alcohol abuse counseling. *Id.* at 603. In reversing, the first district held that it was "improper to enter an order which exceeds the scope of relief sought by the pleadings, <u>absent notice</u> which affords the opposing party an opportunity to be heard with respect to the proposed relief." *Id.* (emphasis supplied). The reason, explained the court, was that the "former husband was not afforded notice that such a provision was contemplated." *Id.*

The facts of *Williams* clearly showed a due process violation because in the absence of custody, parental responsibility, or visitation issues, there was no possible way the former husband could have foreseen entry of an order on alcohol abuse and parenting courses. That is not the case here, however, where custody, parental responsibility, and visitation were properly noticed for final hearing, where a parenting course is squarely within the scope of the requested relief, and where the trial court was statutorily authorized to require the course. The *Williams* court held only that a pleading <u>or</u> other notice is required, and the Father here had the notice described by the court in *Williams*. However, to the extent the Court finds conflict, it should hold that a pleading requesting a parenting course is not necessary if other notice, such as was given here, fulfills due process requirements.

Similarly, in *Silvers*, 504 So. 2d at 31, the only issue before the trial court, also raised in a post-dissolution motion, was financial. Custody, visitation, and parental responsibility were not before the court. Yet in its order, the court required both parents and their current spouses to participate in joint counseling and to complete two junior college courses in parenting, communications, building self-esteem in the

family, adjusting to divorce, or step-parenting. *Id.* In reversing, the second district noted, as did *Williams*, that the trial court erred in imposing those conditions without "motion or <u>other</u> notice." *Silvers*, 504 So. 2d at 31(emphasis supplied). Again the court did not restrict due process to a motion requesting the relief but recognized that other types of notice were sufficient. And again, nothing suggests that any alternative notice, such as the general scope of the pleadings or parenting course statutes, was discussed or even appropriate under the facts. Unlike *Silvers*, in this case there was notice, because it involved a final hearing on issues of custody, child support, and parental responsibility at which the court had statutory authority to order parenting classes. Here, there was no due process violation.

The other three cases on which the Father relies are equally distinguishable. In Little v. Little, 718 So. 2d 341, 342 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), which cannot create conflict in any event because it is a decision of the fourth district, the court modified a final judgment at a post-judgment hearing designed only to arrange a single visitation. In *Brady v. Jones*, 491 So. 2d 1272, 1273 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), the court also modified a final judgment at a post-judgment hearing directed only at visitation. In both cases, the appellate courts held that the trial court could not modify the final judgments in the absence of appropriate pleadings and presentations. In *Winddancer* v. Stein, 765 So. 2d 747, 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), the court held that the trial court could not order the custodial parent and child into counseling where the "narrow subject matter of the motion" did not seek that relief and it was not noticed for hearing. All three cases contrast the narrow scope of the issue noticed for hearing with the order outside the narrow scope that became the subject of the appeal. This case, unlike those three cases, does not involve modification of a final judgment or other relief unconnected to any properly noticed issue. It involves only the trial court's decision, at a final hearing on custody, visitation, and parental responsibility, that the Father's shared parental responsibility and visitation should be condition on his successful completion of a parenting course.

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